IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Apr 05 2022 03:44 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

BARBARA CEGAVSKE, IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS NEVADA	
SECRETARY OF STATE,	Supreme Court Case No. 84420
Appellant,	District Court No.: 21 OC 00182 1B
VS.	
ROBERT HOLLOWOOD, et al.	
Respondents.	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from the First Judicial District Court Judge James E. Wilson Jr., Case No. 21 OC 00182 1B.

> Wayne Klomp, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10109 GREAT BASIN LAW 1783 Trek Trail Reno, Nevada 89521 (775) 770-0386 wayne@greatbasinlawyer.com *Attorney for Appellant Barbara Cegavske*

Rule 26.1 Disclosure

Jurisdictional Statement

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) which provides that an appeal may be taken from "final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." *See also* NRS 2.090. On March 9, 2022, the First Judicial District Court entered an Order That Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition Issue, and further issued a Writ of Mandate and Writ of Prohibition ("Extraordinary Writs"). Notice of Entry of Order was filed on March 10, 2022. The Extraordinary Writs were served on March 14, 2022, and Notice of Service of the Extraordinary Writs was filed on or about March 16, 2022. The Order and Extraordinary Writs constitute final judgment in this case.

Additionally, NRS 34.310 provides that an appeal from a district court's decision on a writ of mandamus is governed by the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure and the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Secretary of State filed her appeal on March 18, 2022, well within the 30day period for filing an appeal. NRAP 4(a)(1).

Routing Statement

This appeal raises a is appropriately before the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(2) because it raises questions involving the ballot for the November 2022 general election. Additionally, this appeal raises important and novel questions involving interpretation of the Nevada Constitution and the constitutionality of a statute governing elections, NRS 295.026. Therefore, this appeal is appropriately before the Nevada Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(11).

Statement of the Issues

1. Whether the district court erred by concluding that the Nevada Legislature can enact a statute authorizing the withdrawal of a verified initiative petition where such a statute conflicts with the constitutional "rights reserved to the people" under the Nevada Constitution to both propose initiative petitions and "to enact or reject" them at the polls.

2. Whether the district court erred by issuing a writ of mandate and writ of prohibition preventing the Secretary of State from fulfilling her constitutional mandate to place two questions raised by verified initiative petitions on the ballot in the November 2022 general election.

Statement of the Case

I. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from an order granting a writ of mandate and a writ of prohibition. JA 284-91. The appeal will determine whether questions raised in two verified initiative petitions are placed on the ballot in the November 2022 general election. That determination involves the reservation of rights that "the people reserve to themselves the power to propose, by initiative petition, statutes and amendments to statutes . . . and to enact or reject them at the polls." Nev. Const. art. 19 § 2(1).

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

The original petitioners are sponsors of two initiative petitions seeking to fund education by raising the statewide sales tax and taxes on the gaming industry. After the Secretary of State declined to acknowledge withdrawal of the verified initiative petitions—because her mandatory obligation under the Nevada Constitution is to place the questions raised by verified petitions on the ballot at the next general election [*see* Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(3)]—the petition sponsors filed a Petition for Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition seeking to compel the Secretary of State to recognize the withdrawal and take no further action on the petitions. The Nevada Resort Association and Vegas Chamber sought, and were granted, intervention as joint petitioners with the sponsors. After briefing the issues, the First Judicial District Court issued an order granting the Petition for Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition and issued a Writ of Mandate and Writ of Prohibition granting the relief sought by the sponsors and the intervenors—that the Secretary of State take no further action on the initiative petitions. This appeal followed.

Statement of Facts

On January 14, 2020, Nevadans for Fair Gaming Taxes PAC filed initiative petition S-01-2020 with the Secretary of State and identified Petitioner Robert Hollowood as the authorized representative under NRS 295.015 to "withdraw the petition or submit an amended petition." JA 21-28. Initiative S-01-2020 proposed to amend statutes raising the fees on the gaming industry. *Id.* On January 15, 2020, Petitioner Fund Our Schools PAC filed an initiative petition No. S-02-2020 with the Secretary of State and identified Kenneth Belknap as its authorized representative. JA 42-47. Initiative 2020-02 proposed to amend NRS Chapter 374 to raise the retail sales tax in Nevada from 2.25% to 3.75% to provide additional funds for education. *Id.*

Nevadans for Fair Gaming Taxes and Fund our Schools together with their authorized representatives, Hollowood and Belknap (collectively "Petition Sponsors") circulated petition S-01-2020 and S-02-2020 (jointly "Initiative Petitions" and obtained the support of a number of registered voters required to "propose" the Initiative Petitions to the Legislature and the electorate. 76-77; see Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(2) (requiring an initiative petition to be "proposed by a number of registered voters").

After the signatures were verified, the Secretary of State submitted the Initiative Petitions to the Legislature on the first day of the 2021 session. Nev. Legislature, Sen. Daily Journal at 33 (Feb. 1, 2021). The Legislature failed to act on the Initiative Petitions within the first 40 days of the Legislative Session as required by the Nevada Constitution. Nev. Const. art 19, § 2(3). Instead, on the 120th day of the Legislative Session, the Legislature struck a bargain with various industries and the Petition Sponsors, to increase other taxes to support education. Assembly Bill 495 (2021); see also Las Vegas Review-Journal, Colton Lochhead, 'Monumental compromise:' Mining tax bill would fund schools, May 29, 2021 available at https://www.reviewjournal.com/news/politics-and-government/2021legislature/monumental-compromise-mining-tax-bill-would-fund-schools-2366919/ (last visited Apr. 5, 2022). As part of that bargain, Petitioners agreed to withdraw the Initiative Petitions, and submitted withdrawal forms to the Secretary of State. JA 58 & 74.

On or about June 2, 2021, Mr. Hollowood submitted a Petition Withdrawal Form seeking the withdrawal of Petition S-01-2020 seeking to prevent the voters from considering Petition S-01-2020 in the November 2022 general election. JA 58. On June 8, the Secretary of State responded that her office was reviewing the withdrawal "and considering Article 19, Section 2 of the Nevada Constitution and NRS 295.026." JA 260.

Thereafter, the Office of Governor Sisolak requested an opinion from the Office of the Attorney General regarding whether the language in Article 19 acted to prevent a verified initiative petition from being withdrawn. JA 60. In response, the Attorney General issued Opinion No. 2021-04 on July 28, 2021, opining that the word "shall" did not impose a mandatory duty on the Secretary of State to place verified initiative petitions on the ballot. JA 60-71. Neither the Legislature nor the Governor's Office sought input from the Office of the Secretary of State on the withdrawal of the Initiative Petitions or the development of Opinion No. 2021-04. JA 254-55. On September 7, 2021, the Secretary of State sent a letter to Attorney General Ford expressing her constitutional obligation to place verified initiative petitions on the general election ballot and disagreeing with AGO 2021-04. JA 76-77.

On October 6, 2021, Mr. Belknap submitted a withdrawal form to the Secretary of State seeking to prevent the voters from considering the petition S-02-2020 in the November 2022 general election. JA 74. The Petition Sponsors then filed their Petition for Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition in the First Judicial District Court. JA 1-5. Subsequently, the Nevada Resort Association ("NRA") and Vegas Chamber ("Chamber" and with NRA, the "Intervenors") filed a motion to intervene or to be heard as amici curiae. *See* JA 202-04. The court granted Intervenors' motion to intervene on February 7, 2022 [JA 202-04], and Intervenors joined the Petition and filed a brief supporting the Petition on February 15, 2022 [JA 205-24].

The district court granted the Petition for Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition on March 9, 2022, by issuing the Order That Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition Issue. JA 284-91. The Writ of Mandate and Writ of Prohibition subsequently issued. JA 292, 293.

Summary of the Argument

The district court erred when it issued two writs based on the conclusion that the Secretary of State does not have a mandatory duty to place questions on the November 2022 ballot presented in the two verified Initiative Petitions. The Nevada Constitution provides that the people reserve to themselves the right to both <u>propose</u> and <u>enact or reject</u> initiative petitions to adopt or amend statutes. Nev. Const. art 19, § 2(1). The Constitution does not contemplate that initiative process would become another legislative bargaining tool. Despite this clear reservation of rights, the Nevada Legislature adopted a statute which eliminates those rights by permitting the sponsor of an initiative petition to withdraw the petition even after 10 percent of the voters have proposed the petition, the Secretary of State has verified the petition and submitted it to the Legislature, and before the question raised by the petition is submitted to the voters to enact or reject the petition.

The mandatory duty of the Secretary of State to place the questions on the ballot in the November 2022 general election protects the rights of the signors to propose the initiative petition and the rights of the people to "enact or reject" them at the polls. NRS 295.026, which permits a petition's representative to withdraw an initiative petition after it has been proposed and verified, is facially unconstitutional because it eliminates the rights the people have reserved to themselves to propose and vote on verified initiative petitions and because it conflicts with the mandatory constitutional duty of the Secretary of State.

Because NRS 295.026 conflicts with the rights reserved to the people and the mandatory duty of the Secretary of State, this Court should reverse the Order That Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition Issue, vacate the Writ of Mandate and Writ of Prohibition, and order the district court to dismiss the Petition for Writs and Prohibition with prejudice.

<u>Argument</u>

The Nevada Constitution is clear and unambiguous that the people have reserved to themselves the right to both propose and enact or reject an initiative petition. No statute can alter those constitutional rights even if enacted by the Legislature under the guise of "facilitating" the initiative petition process.

9

In 1912, the people ratified an amendment to Article 19 of the Nevada Constitution. *Wilson v. Koontz*, 76 Nev. 33, 35, 348 P.2d 231, 231 (1960).¹ That amendment "for the first time provided for the initiative whereby the people were empowered to propose amendments to the constitution and to enact or reject the same at the polls **independent of the legislature**, and similarly were empowered to propose laws." *Id.* at 36-37, 348 P.2d at 232 (emphasis added). Since its inception, Article 19, Section 2(3) has been "self-executing, but legislation may be specially enacted to facilitate its operation." *Id.* at 36, 348 P.2d at 232.²

Regardless of how this case is approached, whether by a plain reading of the Constitution, cannons of constitutional and statutory interpretation, legislative history and intent, or any other legal analysis, the result is always the same—statutes cannot supersede the Nevada Constitution. And statutory law can neither: (1) inhibit the rights of the people expressly reserved to themselves to both propose and consider initiative petitions; nor (2) alter the constitutional duties of the Secretary of

¹ Initially this amendment was ratified as Section 3 to Article 19. In an additional amendment ratified in 1962, this section was moved to its current location as Article 19, Section 2(3). *See* 1961 Nev. Stat. 813-17. The current text of article 19, sections 2 and 5 are printed in the Addendum at the end of this Opening Brief pursuant to NRAP 28(f).

² That phrase was amended in 1962 to read "[t]he provisions of this article are self-executing but the legislature may provide by law for procedures to facilitate the operation thereof." Nev. Const. art 19, § 5.

State to place a verified initiative petition on the ballot as required by Article 19, Section 2(3) of the Constitution.

By adopting NRS 295.026³ and allowing for withdrawal of a verified petition, the Nevada Legislature impermissibly created a new right specific to a few individuals and fundamentally altered the constitutional process because "the constitution does not contemplate the initiative without a ballot." *Rea v. City of Reno*, 76 Nev. 483, 486, 357 P.2d 585, 586 (1960). And Legislature's the creation of a right for the sponsor of an initiative petition ignores the rights of both the signors to propose a petition and the public to "enact or reject" a petition—those rights are constitutionally reserved to the people. For those reasons, this Court should reverse the order of the district court and order the dismissal of the Petition for Writs of Mandamus and Prohibition.

I. Standard of Review

When a writ petition involves questions of statutory construction, the Court reviews the district court's decision *de novo*. *Veil v. Bennet*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 22, 348 P.3d 684, 686 (2015). All the issues in this case involve interpretation of the Nevada Constitution and Nevada law. Therefore, this Court should review the district court's decision *de novo*.

³ The complete text of NRS 295.026 (2021) is included in the Addendum attached hereto.

II. This Court Should Reverse the Lower Court Because the Plain Language of the Constitution Reserves the People's Right to Propose and Enact or Reject Questions Raised by Initiative Petition—The Constitution Does <u>Not Tolerate Withdrawal of a Verified Petition by a Petition Sponsor.</u>

The initiative petition process as enumerated in the Nevada Constitution requires a vote on petitions once proposed. This process protects the rights the people have constitutionally reserved to themselves including both: (1) the right of 10 percent of the voters to propose an initiative petition; and (2) the rights of the people to "enact or reject" initiative petitions once verification is complete. Nev. Const. art 19, § 2(1). The initiative petition process contemplates a vote, not bargaining by the Legislature resulting in withdrawal of a verified initiative petition by the petition sponsors.

When interpreting the Nevada Constitution, the court's primary task is to ascertain the intent of those who enacted the constitutional provision and to adopt an interpretation that best captures their objective. *Nev. Mining Ass'n v. Erdoes*, 117 Nev. 531, 538, 26 P.3d 753, 757 (2001). Constitutional interpretations "are guided by the principle that '[t]he Constitution was written to be understood by the voters; its words and phrases were used in their normal and ordinary as distinguished from technical meaning." *Strickland v. Waymire*, 126 Nev. 230, 234, 235 P.3d 605, 608 (2010), *quoting Dist. of Columbia v. Heller*, 544 U.S. 570, 576 (2008). First, a court turns to the constitutional language and gives that language its plain effect to determine a constitutional meaning. *Miller v. Burk*, 124 Nev. 579,

590-91, 188 P.3d 1112, 1119-20 (2008). Where a constitutional provision is clear on its face, courts need not go beyond the face of the constitution to determine the voters' intent. *Strickland*, 126 Nev. at 234, 235 P.3d at 608. A court must give words their plain meaning unless doing so would violate the spirit of the provision. *McKay v. Bd. of Supervisors*, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438, 441 (1986).

Only if the language is ambiguous will the court then look to the provision's history, public policy, and rationale to determine what voters intended. *Miller*, 124 Nev. at 590-91, 188 P.3d at 1119-20. Nor will the court create an ambiguity when none exists. *Id.* A provision is ambiguous if "it is susceptible to two or more reasonable but inconsistent interpretations" *Id.* (internal citation omitted). The court's interpretation of a constitutional provision may not violate the spirit of the provision. *Id.*

Because the plain language of the initiative process in the Nevada Constitution requires the Secretary of State to put a verified petition on the ballot, and because that mandatory duty protects the rights of the people to propose and enact or reject petitions, this Court should reverse the district court's order and extraordinary writs currently preventing the Secretary from placing the Initiative Petitions on the ballot.

A. The Plain Language of the Constitutional Initiative Petition Process Requires a Vote on Verified Initiative Petitions.

When simple cannons of constitutional interpretation are applied to the provisions governing the initiative petition process, no doubt remains—the questions proposed by 10 percent of voters in the verified Initiative Petitions must appear on the ballot so that the people can "enact or reject them at the polls." Nev. Const. art 19 § 2(1).

The initiative petition process is as follows:

First, a petition must be filed with the Secretary of State by "the person who intends to circulate it" Nev. Const. art 19, § 2(3). While an individual can "circulate" an initiative petition, only "a number of registered voters equal to 10 percent or more of the number of voters who voted in the last preceding general election" can <u>propose</u> an initiative. Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(2). This means that no action is taken on an initiative by the Legislature or electorate until after the requisite number of registered voters have signed the petition.

Second, following circulation of the initiative petition and collection of the requisite number of signatures, it must be submitted for verification to the County Clerks and ultimately to the Secretary of State. Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(3); NRS 295.056. Once the signature verification process is complete, the Secretary of State "shall transmit such petition to the Legislature as soon as the Legislature convenes and organizes." Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(3).

Next, the constitutional process can take two different paths, and that process depends on the actions taken by the Legislature. If the Legislature fails to act on or rejects the petition, "**the Secretary of State shall submit the question of approval** or disapproval of such statute or amendment to a statute to a vote of the voters at the next succeeding general election." *Id.* (emphasis added). But if the Legislature enacts the petition, and the Governor approves it "in the same manner as other statutes are enacted, such statute or amendment to a statute shall become law" *Id.* Only if the Legislature and Governor approve a verified initiative petition does the Constitution permit the petition not to go on the ballot for "approval or disapproval."

The initiative petition process is clear—once verified the question in the petition must go to the voters unless the Legislature adopts the statute or amendment to the statute. This should end the inquiry—withdrawal is not contemplated or permitted by the constitutional process. This conclusion is further supported by: (1) the constitutional rights of the 10 percent of voters required to propose an initiative petition; (2) the constitutional rights reserved to the people to "enact or reject," or "approve or disapprove" of the initiative petition; and (3) the mandatory duty of the Secretary of State to place the question on the ballot. Each is discussed in turn.

B. The Right of 10 Percent of the Voters to Propose an Initiative Petition Is Clear on the Face of the Constitution and Cannot Be Altered by the Petition's Sponsor or Limited by the Legislature.

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