Case No. 84420

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

BARBARA CEGAVSKE, in her official capacity as NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE,

Appellant,

vs.

ROBERT HOLLOWOOD, et al.

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Apr 15 2022 04:31 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the First Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable JAMES E. WILSON, JR. District Judge District Court Case No. 21 OC 00182 1B

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

JOEL D. HENRIOD (SBN 8492)
DANIEL F. POLSENBERG (SBN 2376)
ABRAHAM G. SMITH (SBN 13250)
KORY J. KOERPERICH (SBN 14559)
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
(702) 949-8200

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

The Secretary's original written justification for her refusal was that a statute like NRS 295.026 could not contradict the Secretary's ministerial obligation created by Art. 19, Sec. 2(3)'s use of "shall". Throughout this litigation, she has additionally argued that Article 19, Sec. 2(1) reserves a right on behalf of the public to vote on an initiative petition once it has been proposed. To justify her determination to place these petitions on the ballots, both of the Secretary's arguments narrowly focus on constitutional language out of that language's broader context, thereby artificially creating a conflict between NRS 295.026 and Art. 19, Sec. 2.

The fundamental flaw in the Secretary's arguments is that she glosses over the constitutional role of the Legislature to "provide by law for procedures to facilitate the operation" of initiative petitions. Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 5. As the district court found, NRS 295.026 is a valid exercise of the Legislature's authority to do just that. And the Secretary cannot otherwise establish, despite her attempt to contrive new constitutional rights and overemphasize her own role in the initiative process, that the Nevada constitution prohibits withdrawal of an initiative petition.

In particular, the Secretary's ministerial role and duties under Art.

19, Sec. 2 are only implicated when a valid initiative petition exists. A

petition that is withdrawn under NRS 295.026 functionally removes the

petition from the constitutional process set forth in Sec. 2(3) and the

Secretary's only ministerial role is to take no further action on the

withdrawn petition. Further, the Secretary's argument wrongly presumes

that the constitution grants a right to the public to vote on an initiative

petition once it has been proposed. No such right exists, either explicitly or

implicitly; instead, the Secretary herself fabricates that purported right out

of whole cloth by using select language from Art. 19, Sec. 2(1) and case law.

Ultimately, NRS 295.026 neither directly nor indirectly contravenes

Art. 19, Sec. 2. Nonetheless, under the guise of her ministerial duty, the Secretary has unilaterally determined that NRS 295.026 is unconstitutional and that she will not allow the proponent of an initiative petition to withdraw that petition once it has been proposed. This Court should therefore affirm the district court's order, which prevents the Secretary from acting on her erroneous interpretation and prohibits her from placing these withdrawn initiative petitions on the ballot in the next general election.

ARGUMENT

Although the Nevada Constitution vests the authority to make laws in the Legislature, see Nev. Const. Art. 4, § 1, the people also reserved to themselves the power to propose and enact laws through initiative petition, see Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 2(1). The constitution itself provides some of the requirements for Nevada's initiative process. See Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 2. But the constitution also recognizes the ability of the Legislature to "facilitate" the process by enacting its own procedures for initiative petitions. See Nev. Const. Art. 19, § 5¹. By enacting NRS 295.026, which

¹ Art. 19, Sec. 5 reads in full: "The provisions of this article are self-executing but the legislature may provide by law for procedures to facilitate the operation thereof."

provides a procedure for certain authorized persons to withdraw an initiative petition, the Legislature has done just that.

Not only does NRS 295.026 facilitate the initiative process, but withdrawal of an initiative petition is easily read in harmony with the constitutional process. Simply put, withdrawal under NRS 295.026 completely removes the petition from the constitutional process and prevents any further action from being taken on that petition. Such a withdrawal does not in any way conflict with any other constitutional provision concerning initiative petitions.

I.

NRS 295.026 IS A CONSTITUTIONAL EXERCISE OF THE LEGISLATURE'S AUTHORITY UNDER NEV. CONST. ART. 19, Sec. 5

NRS 295.026 allows the proponent² of an initiative petition to withdraw the petition by submitting a notice of withdrawal to the Secretary of State no later than 90 days before the election in which the initiative will appear on the ballot. NRS 295.026(1)(a). NRS 295.026(1)

NRS 295.015 governs who may withdraw a petition. "Before a petition for initiative or referendum may be presented to the registered voters for their signatures, the person who intends to circulate the petition must . . . submit to the Secretary of State . . . [t]he names of not more than three persons who are authorized to withdraw the petition" NRS 295.015(1)(b)(3).

"submit[] a notice of withdrawal to the Secretary of State on a form prescribed by the Secretary of State." Once a proponent submits a notice of withdrawal on the form prescribed by the Secretary of State, "no further action may be taken on that petition." NRS 295.026(2).

Initiative petitions and referendums allow the people to enact law directly and ensure that the Legislature remains responsive to the people. The ability to withdraw an initiative petition, and a clear procedure for doing so, is an extremely valuable component of the people's power to engage in the initiative process.

A. <u>Initiative Petitions Are for Unresponsive Legislatures</u>

The purpose of an initiative petition is to allow the people to enact law themselves when the legislature fails to represent their interests. See 42 Am. Jur. 2d Initiative and Referendum § 1 ("The purpose of initiative and referendum is to allow the people to enact laws directly without being thwarted by an unresponsive legislature."); see, e.g., Turley v. Bolin, 554 P.2d 1288, 1292 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1976) (noting "the right of the people of initiat[ing] legislation when disappointed by the failure of their elected representatives to pass desired legislation"). Not only can the power of the

initiative directly enact law, but the people's ability to propose and enact law is itself a method of getting the legislature's attention.

As the Ohio Supreme Court aptly put it over 100 years ago, the great power in the initiative and referendum process is that it safeguards representative government:

Now, the people's right to the use of the initiative and referendum is one of the most essential safeguards to representative government. The enemies of the 'I. & R.' persistently misrepresent it as destroying representative government, but it is not so. It is rather a guaranty or safeguard to preserve representative government. It is only when government ceases to be representative of the public welfare that the 'I. & R.' can be successfully invoked. If the people get real representative government, there is no occasion for the 'I. & R.' The potential virtue of the 'I. & R.' does not reside in the good statutes and good constitutional amendments initiated, nor in the bad statutes and bad proposed constitutional amendments that are killed. Rather, the greatest efficiency of the 'I. & R.' rests in the wholesome restraint imposed automatically upon the General Assembly and the Governor and the possibilities of that latent power when called into action by the voters.

State ex rel. Nolan v. ClenDening, 112 N.E. 1029, 1032 (Oh. 1915). The United States Supreme Court itself has recently recognized that the virtue of the initiative process "extends beyond the particular statutes and constitutional provisions installed by the people" and that "[t]he very prospect of lawmaking by the people may influence the legislature". See Arizona State Legislature v. Arizona Independent Redistricting

Commission, 576 U.S. 787, 823 (2015). The initiative process comports with "[t]he genius of republican liberty" which provides "not only that all power should be derived from the people, but that those intrusted [sic] with it should be kept in dependence on the people." *Id.* at 819 (quoting The Federalist No. 37, at 223).

When the initiative process is properly understood for what it is—the power to enact law when the Legislature is unresponsive to the people it represents—then withdrawal of an initiative becomes a natural part of that process. A procedure for withdrawal can play a vital role in the initiative process when the Legislature chooses to respond, whether directly or indirectly, to the concerns of the people provided through an initiative petition.

B. NRS 295.026 Facilitates Initiative Petitions

"Any legislation which tends to ensure a fair, intelligent and impartial accomplishment may be said to aid or facilitate the purpose intended by the constitution." State ex rel. McPherson v. Snell, 121 P.2d 930, 934 (Or. 1942). The statute must not, however, "curtail[] the right or plac[e] any undue burdens upon [the] exercise" of the constitutional right.

Id. A statute facilitates the operation of initiative petitions if the statute

safeguards the process of initiative petitions. *Cf. Fiannaca v. Gill*, 78 Nev. 337, 345, 372 P.2d 683, 687 (1962) ("[A]ny statutory provision intended to safeguard the operation of recall procedures aids in the operation thereof."); *Citizens for Honest & Responsible Government v. Secretary of State*, 116 Nev. 939, 950, 11 P.3d 121, 128 (2000) (holding that statute allowing for withdrawal of signatures from recall petition "aids in the operation" of the recall right because it "clearly gives the electorate greater flexibility and voice in the exercise of its recall right" and "helps avoid unnecessary special elections").

Perhaps the most prominent benefit of a withdrawal procedure, as illustrated by this case, is that it empowers the people to engage with the Legislature and provides them flexibility to interact and address the substance of the initiative in creative ways. The constitution's framework of an indirect initiative process—one in which there is an intervening legislative session between proposal of an initiative and a public vote on the initiative—further suggests that the Legislature's participation in the initiative process is valuable. If an intervening legislative session responds to the proponent's concerns, then an initiative petition may no longer be necessary and it can be withdrawn. The initiative process should be

designed to encourage the Legislature to actually respond to and address an initiative petition, because its very purpose is to engage the people's legislative power when the Legislature is not being responsive to the people.

The Secretary's assumption—that the only way in which an initiative petition can permissibly result in changes in the law is if it is approved exactly as proposed—severely limits the people's power given by the initiative process. California, for example, explicitly recognizes that proponents may withdraw an initiative petition as a result of negotiations and good faith bargaining to secure legislative approval of matters embraced in the initiative. See Cal. Elec. Code § 9604(a)-(b) ("[A]ny person may engage in good faith bargaining between competing interests to secure legislative approval of matters embraced in a statewide or local initiative or referendum measure, and the proponents may, as a result of these negotiations, withdraw the measure at any time . . . before the Secretary of State certifies that the measure has qualified for the ballot."). California did not always permit withdrawal after qualification of signatures; it was only in 2014, after the legislature realized that the inability to withdraw initiative petitions was leading to undesirable results, that California

instituted a mechanism for withdrawal. *See* Senate Rules Committee, Senate Floor Bill Analyses of S.B. 1253, California 2013-2014 Regular Session, on August 27, 2014, at 8-9,

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?bill_id=201 320140SB1253 (last visited April 10, 2022) (author of bill noting a problem in the law was that "if a proponent of an initiative pursues an alternative path to solving an issue—specifically through the legislative process—there is no mechanism for the proponent to remove their own ballot initiative after it's been qualified").

The California legislature cited to a 2004 example in which a group qualified a local government protection initiative for the ballot. See

Assembly Committee on Elections and Redistricting, California 2013-2014

Regular Session, June 23, 2014 Hearing on S.B. 1253, at 8-9,

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?bill_id=201

320140SB1253 (last visited April 11, 2022). Before the election, however,

the governor and the legislature came to a compromise in a separate

measure on the same issue that was put on the same ballot. Id. The group

preferred the compromise presented by the governor and the legislature

over their own measure. Id. Because there was no procedure for the group

to withdraw their own initiative, they ended up actively opposing their own initiative and supporting the one put forward by the governor and legislature. *Id.* Withdrawal would have been a common-sense procedural solution to such a problem.

South Dakota, who was the leading state to approve the initiative process in 1898, also amended their initiative process in 2009 to allow for a legislative session before an initiative is placed on the ballot. *See* S.D. Const. Art. 3, Sec. 1; *see also* South Dakota Legislative Research Counsel 2009 Bills, Hearing on House Bill 1184, February 4, 2009, beginning at 9:13, (last visited April 7, 2022)

https://www.sdlegislature.gov/Session/Bill/889. South Dakota recognized that withdrawal of an initiative is particularly appropriate when the Legislature acts in response to an initiative and there is no reason for the measure to be on the ballot. *Id.* at 40:00 to 41:45; *see* S.D. Codified Laws § 2-1-2.3 (allowing withdrawal not later than 120 days before the next general election by two-thirds of the named sponsors).

Multiple other states allow for withdrawal of an initiative petition, several of which also allow for withdrawal of a petition after collection and filing with signatures. *See* Cal. Elec. Cod. § 9604; Colo. Rev. Stat. § 1-40-

134; Mo. Ann. Stat. § 116.115; Ohio Rev. Code § 3519.08; S.D. Codified Laws § 2-1-2.3. Such provisions facilitate the initiative petition process not only by allowing for compromise or negotiation with the legislature, but also by providing the ability to abandon unconstitutional or inefficient initiatives and adapting to otherwise unforeseen circumstances between the proposal of an initiative and the next general election.

In short, withdrawal can be a valuable procedure to engage the Legislature as well as a procedure to save time and resources for Nevadans by withdrawing nonviable petitions. If the Legislature becomes responsive to the people on an issue, then the initiative process is no longer needed and withdrawal can be a valuable tool. Similarly, if it is discovered that an initiative petition may have an unintended consequence or is likely to be unconstitutional, withdrawal can save time and resources on an election. Conversely, providing the ability to withdraw an initiative petition does not hinder or make it more difficult for the people to exercise their right to propose initiative petitions when the legislature is failing to respond to their concerns. The Secretary's purported concerns about misuse of withdrawal are matters for further policy-based legislative decisions.

For her part, the Secretary does not directly address the advantages that come from an initiative process that contains a procedure for withdrawal and why the Legislature was well within its political discretion to enact such a procedure under Art. 19, Sec. 5. Instead, the Secretary argues that NRS 295.026 inhibits the initiative process, rather than facilitates it, because it infringes on "the powers reserved both to the signors of an initiative petition to propose laws as well as the rights reserved to the people to 'enact or reject' those proposed laws." AOB at 30. Additionally, the Secretary argues, "it bypasses a mandatory duty of the Secretary of State designed to protect those rights." AOB at 30. These arguments are not so much substantive responses to the benefits of withdrawal that justify the Legislature's policy decision, but instead are simple reiterations of the Secretary's primary argument, which is that withdrawal conflicts with the Constitutional framework of initiative petitions. But a withdrawn petition does not conflict with the constitutional process, because withdrawal completely removes the petition from the procedure outlined in the constitution.

A WITHDRAWN PETITION BECOMES VOID AND IS REMOVED FROM THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROCESS

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